Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-9-2016

State v. Henson Appellant's Brief Dckt. 43871

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Kimberly Dawn Henson was sentenced to a unified term of fifteen years, with three years fixed, for trafficking in methamphetamine. She appeals from the district court's order denying her motion pursuant to Idaho Criminal Rule 35 ("Rule 35") for reconsideration of sentence, contending the district court abused its discretion in denying the motion.

Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

Ms. Henson was charged by Information with trafficking in methamphetamine. (R., pp.74-75.) She suffered from a stroke shortly after her arrest, and was deemed

incompetent due to an inability to assist in her defense. (Presentence Investigation Report ("PSI"), pp.204-18, 227.) After her competency was restored, she entered into an agreement with the State pursuant to which she agreed to plead guilty and to admit to violating probation in another case, CR 2009-16859. (R., pp.79, 80-87, 88; Tr. p.4, Ls.11-19.) The district court revoked Ms. Henson's probation in CR 2009-16859 and executed her unified sentence of ten years, with three year fixed. (Tr., p.15, Ls.6-13.) In the instant case, the district court sentenced Ms. Henson to a unified term of fifteen years, with three years fixed, to be served concurrently. (R., pp.89, 91.) The judgment was entered on July 25, 2015. (R., pp.90-94.)

On August 5, 2015, Ms. Henson filed a Rule 35 motion for reconsideration of sentence, requesting that the district court reduce the indeterminate portion of her sentence. (R., pp.99-112.) The district court denied Ms. Henson's Rule 35 motion on December 9, 2015. (R., pp.113-15.) Ms. Henson filed a timely notice of appeal on January 6, 2016, which she subsequently amended. (R., pp.116-18, 121-24.)

ISSUE

Did the district court abuse its discretion when it denied Ms. Henson's Rule 35 motion?

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Denied Ms. Henson's Rule 35 Motion

"A motion to alter an otherwise lawful sentence under Rule 35 is addressed to the sound discretion of the sentencing court . . . and essentially is a plea for leniency which may be granted if the sentence originally imposed was unduly severe." *State v. Trent*, 125 Idaho 251, 253 (Ct. App. 1994). "The denial of a motion for modification of a

sentence will not be disturbed absent a showing that the court abused its discretion."

Id. In examining a district court's denial of a motion for modification, this Court "examine[s] the probable duration of confinement in light of the nature of the crime, the character of the offender and the objectives of sentencing, which are the protection of society, deterrence, rehabilitation and retribution." Id.

The district court abused its discretion when it denied Ms. Henson's Rule 35 motion and refused to reduce the indeterminate portion of her sentence in light of the additional information she submitted to the district court.¹ The district court was aware at the time of sentencing that Ms. Henson suffered a stroke approximately two days after she was arrested for the instant offense and has a heart condition with an estimated five-year survival rate. (Tr., p.9, Ls.9-10, p.10, Ls.10-13; PSI, pp.115, 120.) The district court was not aware, however, how much the stroke had affected Ms. Henson and fundamentally changed her character.

Ms. Henson submitted four letters to the district court in support of her Rule 35 motion. (R., p.102.) In the first letter, Ms. Henson said, "I believe my life being so short from my stroke has really opened my heart and my thinking." (R., p.104.) One of Ms. Henson's daughters told the district court that she thought her mother had lost her independence after the stroke and couldn't "reme[mber] some of the stuff we did together." (R., p.109.) A friend of Ms. Henson's informed the district court that, following her stroke, Ms. Henson could not carry on a conversation and forgets names and words. (R., p.111.) Another friend informed the district court that Ms. Henson "truly

¹ Ms. Henson did not seek a reduction in the fixed portion of her sentence because it was the mandatory minimum. (Tr., p.13, Ls.15-20).

doesn't remember her crimes" and needs medical treatment. (R., p.112.)

The district court should have reduced the indeterminate portion of Ms. Henson's

sentence in light of the additional information she submitted, which called into question

the need for punishment, the possibility of rehabilitation, and the risk to society. After

her stroke, Ms. Henson could not even recall the circumstances of her offense, which

makes a lengthy term of incarceration seem particularly unwarranted. And due to her

significant health problems, Ms. Henson cannot hope to be rehabilitated in any real way,

and will likely live in a skilled nursing facility if she is alive at the time of her release.

(PSI, p.167.) In her current state, Ms. Henson presents little risk to society as she will

most likely not be able to use or possess, let alone traffick in, illegal drugs. The district

court abused its discretion when it denied Ms. Henson's Rule 35 motion.

CONCLUSION

Ms. Henson respectfully requests that this Court vacate the district court's order

denying her Rule 35 motion and remand this case to the district court with instructions

to reduce the indeterminate portion of her sentence.