UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-26-2016

State v. Henson Respondent's Brief Dckt. 43871

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.law.uidaho.edu/not_reported

Recommended Citation

"State v. Henson Respondent's Brief Dckt. 43871" (2016). *Not Reported*. 3059. https://digitalcommons.law.uidaho.edu/not_reported/3059

This Court Document is brought to you for free and open access by the Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs at Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law. It has been accepted for inclusion in Not Reported by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law. For more information, please contact annablaine@uidaho.edu.

LAWRENCE G. WASDEN Attorney General State of Idaho P.O. Box 83720 Boise, Idaho 83720-0010 (208) 334-4534

PAUL R. PANTHER Deputy Attorney General Chief, Criminal Law Division

LORI A. FLEMING Deputy Attorney General

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF IDAHO

STATE OF IDAHO,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

٧.

KIMBERLY DAWN HENSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

NO. 43871

Ada County Case No. CR-2014-8384

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

<u>Issue</u>

Has Henson failed to establish that the district court abused its discretion by denying her Rule 35 motion for a reduction of her unified sentence of 15 years, with three years fixed, imposed upon her guilty plea to trafficking in methamphetamine?

Henson Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Abused Its Sentencing Discretion

Henson pled guilty to trafficking in methamphetamine (28 grams or more, but

less than 200 grams) and the district court imposed a unified sentence of 15 years, with

three years fixed. (R., pp.74-75, 90-94.) Henson filed a timely Rule 35 motion for a

reduction of sentence, which the district court denied. (R., pp.99-115.) Henson filed a notice of appeal timely only from the district court's order denying her Rule 35 motion.¹ (R., pp.116-18.)

Henson asserts that the district court abused its discretion by denying her Rule 35 motion for a reduction of the indeterminate portion of her sentence because she had a stroke prior to sentencing, which affected her memory and independence. (Appellant's brief, pp.2-4.) Henson has failed to establish an abuse of discretion.

In <u>State v. Huffman</u>, 144 Idaho 201, 203, 159 P.3d 838, 840 (2007), the Idaho Supreme Court observed that a Rule 35 motion "does not function as an appeal of a sentence." The Court noted that where a sentence is within statutory limits, a Rule 35 motion is merely a request for leniency, which is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. <u>Id.</u> Thus, "[w]hen presenting a Rule 35 motion, the defendant must show that the sentence is excessive in light of new or additional information subsequently provided to the district court in support of the Rule 35 motion." <u>Id.</u> Absent the presentation of new evidence, "[a]n appeal from the denial of a Rule 35 motion cannot be used as a vehicle to review the underlying sentence." <u>Id. Accord State v. Adair</u>, 145 Idaho 514, 516, 181 P.3d 440, 442 (2008).

Henson did not appeal the judgment of conviction in this case. On appeal, she merely argues that her sentence was excessive as originally imposed because she had

¹ In her Appellant's brief, Henson erroneously states "[t]he judgment was entered on July 25, 2015" (Appellant's brief, p.2.) Henson is mistaken. According to the filing stamp, the judgment was actually entered on July 21, 2015. (R., p.90.) Because Henson did not file her Rule 35 motion until August 5, 2015, the filing of that motion did not extend the 42-day period for filing an appeal from the judgment. <u>See</u> I.A.R. 14(a) (time for appeal from criminal judgment extended by filing of motion with 14 days of the entry of judgment, the disposition of which could affect the judgment).

a stroke prior to sentencing, which affected her memory and independence. (Appellant's brief, pp.3-4.) This information was before the district court at the time of sentencing and, as such, it is not "new" information. (See PSI,² p.108 (Henson "advised she could not remember a lot of things. In regards to the instant offense, [when] she was asked if she had been selling methamphetamine, she responded, 'I don't really know. It says in my things I did. It says a bunch of stuff I don't remember"), p.164-65 ("Of particular interest in regard to her left frontal stroke is that it affects emotional control, verbal communications, verbal memory, reasoning and judgment. This is consistent with many of the difficulties with which Ms. Henson presents"), p.167 ("Ms. Henson is significantly impaired at this point in time. ... She clearly lacks the capacity to live independently out in the community").) Because Henson presented no new evidence in support of her Rule 35 motion, she failed to demonstrate in the motion that her sentence was excessive. Having failed to make such a showing, she has failed to establish any basis for reversal of the district court's order denying her Rule 35 motion.

Even if this Court addresses the merits of Henson's claim, Henson has still failed to establish an abuse of discretion. At sentencing, the state addressed the seriousness of the offense, the harm such offenses cause to society, Henson's ongoing criminal behavior, and her failure to rehabilitate despite multiple treatment opportunities. (Tr., p.6, L.10 – p.8, L.21 (Appendix A).) The district court subsequently articulated its reasons for imposing Henson's sentence. (Tr., p.13, L.15 – p.15, L.1 (Appendix B).) The state submits that Henson has failed to establish that the district court abused its

² PSI page numbers correspond with the page numbers of the electronic file "HENSON 43871 psi.pdf."

discretion by denying Henson's Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence, for reasons more fully set forth in the attached excerpts of the sentencing hearing transcript, which the state adopts as its argument on appeal. (Appendices A and B.)

Conclusion

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the district court's order denying Henson's Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence.